No. 70711-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

Andrea Rich,

Appellant.

COURT OF ARTEALS DIV

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Argument by a prosecutor that the jury must find that the State's witnesses lied in order to acquit is flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. During closing argument, the prosecutor argued that in order to acquit the defendant, the jury had to find that all the witnesses besides the defendant lied. Seizing on an erroneous ruling by the court, the prosecutor further argued that because the defendant had not called any witnesses, the jury should not believe her testimony. Because these improper arguments deprived the defendant of a fair trial, this Court should reverse the defendant's convictions for driving under the influence and reckless endangerment. Additionally, because there was insufficient evidence, the reckless endangerment conviction should be dismissed with prejudice.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived the defendant of a fair trial.
- The court erred in ruling that the prosecutor would be allowed to make a "missing witness" argument during closing.
- Insufficient evidence supports the conviction for reckless endangerment.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. It is flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct for a prosecutor to argue that in order to acquit, the jury must find that the State's witnesses

are lying. In contrast to testimony from a police officer, the defendant testified that she had not driven a vehicle before being arrested. In closing argument, the prosecutor argued, "You heard the defendant. You have to believe that all the other witnesses came in here and lied." The prosecutor made other similar arguments. Did this flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct deprive the defendant of a fair trial?

- 2. The State sought a "missing witness" instruction. The court denied the request, finding that the requirement that the witness be particularly available to the defendant was not met. Despite finding that the missing witness doctrine was inapplicable, the court ruled the State could make a missing witness argument during closing. During closing argument, the prosecutor argued that the jury should not believe the defendant because she did not call any witnesses in her defense. Did the court err by allowing the prosecutor to make this argument when it had earlier found that the missing witness doctrine was inapplicable?
- 3. Suspecting that a vehicle on the road was stolen, a police officer testified that he followed a car about four blocks before it was parked at an apartment complex. While noting that the car was speeding, he did not testify that the car was being driven erratically. The defendant, intoxicated, was found in the driver's seat of the parked car with a passenger. Was this evidence sufficient to find that the defendant

recklessly engaged in conduct that created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another person, i.e., reckless endangerment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Andrea Rich with driving under the influence,¹ possession of a stolen vehicle,² and reckless endangerment.³ CP 6-7.

At trial, King County Sheriff's Deputy Paul Mulligan testified he was on afternoon patrol shift on May 27, 2012. RP 72-74. Around 8 p.m. while it was still light outside, Mulligan heard on his radio that Seattle police had located a stolen vehicle, but lost it. RP 74, 84, 89. As Mulligan was driving southbound on Ambaum Boulevard in Burien, he saw a car pass him in the outside lane near 122nd street. RP 74-75. Mulligan identified the car as the reported stolen vehicle. RP 75. Mulligan pulled behind the car and followed. RP 78. After traveling about four blocks, the car pulled into an apartment complex and parked. RP 78. Mulligan stopped about 20 feet behind the car, activated his emergency lights, and waited for backup. RP 78, 85.

After two other police officers arrived, the officers arrested Andrea Rich, who was in the driver's seat of the car. RP 80, 145. The officers

¹ RCW 46.61.502.

² RCW 9A.56.068.

³ RCW 9A.36.050.

suspected that Rich was intoxicated. RP 80, 146. Before arresting her, the police claimed to have overheard Rich telling the passenger in the car, a boy appearing to be about 8 or 9 years old, that they found the keys and that they had just got in the car. RP 79, 144-45.

Officer Samuel Copeland, one of the backup officers, testified that Rich told him that her boyfriend, Mohamed, had given her the keys to the car about a week ago. RP 147. Rich, who had a cast on her leg, did not undergo a field sobriety test. RP 80, 119. Two breath test samples, taken after Rich was taken into custody, stated that Rich had a blood alcohol level of .183 and .188. RP 177.

The owner of the car, Yared Metafaria, testified that his car had been missing for about one week. RP 94. One evening, Metafaria went to the laundromat. RP 91. Before leaving home, Metafaria's wife gave him her set of car keys. RP 93. While Metafaria had his own set of keys, he still took his wife's keys. RP 93. Before coming home from the laundromat, Metafaria stopped at a bar to play pool around 8 or 9 p.m. RP 92. He left his wife's set of keys in the car. RP 92, 96. He claimed to have locked the door. RP 93. After leaving the bar around 11 p.m., he noticed his car was missing. RP 92-94. After talking to a friend and his wife, he called the police. RP 94. Metafaria, who works as a Seattle Metro bus driver, claimed to not know Rich. RP 90, 95.

Rich testified that she knew Metafaria, though by the name

Mohamed. RP 185-86. She testified that she met Metafaria on the

number 120 bus that he drove. RP 185-86. About two weeks before May

27, 2012, they exchanged phone numbers. RP 185, 207-08. He called

her. RP 185. Rich did not know he was married. RP 186. Rich and

Metafaria went out together and he brought her gifts. RP 186-87, 207.

After one night out where they drank together, Metafaria left his car on

Delridge Street, close to where one of Rich's sisters lives. RP 187.

Metafaria gave Rich the keys to the car and she later drove the car to her

other sister's apartment on Ambaum Boulevard near 126th Street. RP

187, 189. Metafaria, who was supposed to pick up his car, did not pick it

up. RP 187, 189.

Rich also recounted the events of May 27, 2012 differently than the State's witnesses. Rich testified that she stayed the night at her sister's apartment on Ambaum Boulevard on May 26. RP 185. She texted Metafaria to pick up his car. RP 189. As she was going to the car, she saw a police car drive by and turn around. RP 190. Before the police arrived, Rich had gotten in the car. RP 199. Rich's nephew came out with the keys to the car and got inside the car as the police were arriving. RP 191, 200-01. Rich admitted to drinking alcohol earlier that day. RP 205-

06. She told police that Mohamed (Metafaria) was coming to meet her.
RP 198. She denied that she drove that night. RP 190.

The State did not call any rebuttal witnesses. RP 210. The State requested a missing witness instruction. RP 210-11. The trial court denied the request. RP 211-12. The court, however, ruled the State could still make a missing witness argument. RP 212. During closing, the prosecutor⁴ argued that the reason Rich's brothers and sisters had not testified was because the events did not happen as Rich testified. RP 226. The prosecutor further contended that to accept Rich's testimony, the jury had to believe that all the State's witnesses "came in here and lied." RP 227. The jury found Rich guilty of driving under the influence and of reckless endangerment, but acquitted her of possession of a stolen vehicle. CP 47-49.

E. ARGUMENT

 In violation of the defendant's right to a fair trial, the prosecutor committed flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct.

The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the

United States Constitution and the Washington State Constitution. <u>In re</u>

Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703, 286 P.3d 673 (2012);

U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. 1, § 3. Prosecutorial misconduct may

⁴ There were two prosecutors in the case. RP 5.

deprive defendants of their constitutional right to a fair trial. <u>Glasmann</u>, 175 Wn.2d at 703-04. When a defendant shows that the prosecutor's conduct was improper and prejudicial, the appellate court should reverse. <u>See id.</u> at 704. Prejudice requires that the defendant show a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury verdict. <u>Id.</u> Flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct excuses the lack of an objection by the defendant when an instruction would not have cured the prejudice. Id.

a. The prosecutor improperly argued that in order to acquit, the jury had to believe that all the witnesses called by the State lied.

"[I]t is misconduct for a prosecutor to argue that in order to acquit a defendant, the jury must find that the State's witnesses are either lying or mistaken." State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996). Misconduct also includes making arguments that are unsupported by the admitted evidence. State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn2d 504, 505, 508-09, 755 P.2d 174 (1998).

Rich and Deputy Mulligan gave conflicting testimony. Mulligan testified that he saw Rich driving and that he followed her until she parked at an apartment complex. RP 75, 78. Rich testified that she had not been driving and that police arrived as she was entering the parked car after leaving her sister's apartment. RP 190, 199. Rich did not testify that other witnesses were fabricating events. RP 184-208.

Rather than call any rebuttal witnesses, the prosecution decided to challenge Rich's account during closing argument. RP 210. The prosecutor began by misrepresenting Rich's testimony, arguing that she had testified that police fabricated everything:

Now, the defendant can testify. And she told a totally different story. She said that the car owner – and all of the officers testified, Deputy Mulligan, Deputy Copeland – they just made it all up, everything they said was a fabrication, and only she is telling you the truth.

RP 223-24. The prosecutor then argued that to acquit, the jury had to accept Rich's "preposterous" testimony and believe that all the witnesses called by the State "lied":

She gave a preposterous story. You heard the defendant. You have to believe that all the other witnesses came in here and lied.

RP 227.

This argument was plainly misconduct under State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996). This type of "liar" argument was improper because it wrongfully implied that in order to find Rich not guilty, the jury had to find that the police officers were lying. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 213; State v. Wright, 76 Wn. App. 811, 826, 888 P.2d 1214 (1995) ("It is misconduct, however, for a prosecutor to argue that, in order to *believe* a defendant, a jury must find that the State's witnesses are *lying*."); State v. Barrow, 60 Wn. App. 869, 875, 809 P.2d 209 (1991);

State v. Casteneda-Perez, 61 Wn. App. 354, 362-63, 810 P.2d 74 (1991) ("it is misleading and unfair to make it appear that an acquittal requires the conclusion that the police officers are lying."). This form of argument misstates the law, misrepresents the role of the jury, and turns the State's burden of proof on its head. See Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 213. As the court in Casteneda-Perez explained, the prosecutor's apparent tactic is to present the jury with a false choice between finding the defendant guilty or finding the witnesses (often times police officers) liars:

The tactic of the prosecutor was apparently to place the issue before the jury in a posture where, in order to acquit the defendant, the jury would have to find the officer witnesses were deliberately giving false testimony. Since jurors would be reluctant to make such a harsh evaluation of police testimony, they would be inclined to find the defendant guilty.

<u>Casteneda-Perez</u>, 61 Wn. App. at 360. Over twenty years later, despite repeated appellate opinions holding that this is misconduct, prosecutors still resort to the same tactic. <u>See State v. Anderson</u>, 153 Wn. App. 417, 434, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009) (Quinn-Brintnall, J. concurring) ("Nearly two decades have passed since <u>Casteneda-Perez</u> and a dozen years since <u>Fleming</u>. It is disheartening that this improper argument form has cropped up again.").

b. There is a substantial chance that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict and that no curative instruction could have cured the prejudice resulting from the misconduct.

In analyzing whether there is a substantial chance that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict, the focus is on the misconduct and its impact, not on the evidence that was properly admitted. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 711. Here, the misconduct was aimed at Rich's central defense—that she had not been driving. If she had not been driving, then she was not guilty of driving under the influence or reckless endangerment. The jury found reasonable doubt on the possession of a stolen vehicle charge. CP 47. Absent the impact from the prosecutor's flagrant misconduct, this Court cannot be confident the jury would not have also found reasonable doubt on the other two charges.

Although Rich did not object to the prosecutor's improper arguments, this Court in <u>Fleming</u> held this form of argument was so flagrant that the lack of a contemporaneous objection did not preclude reversal. <u>Fleming</u>, 83 Wn. App. at 213-16. There the prosecutor also argued that the jury had to find a State witness had lied in order to acquit:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, for you to find the defendants, Derek Lee and Dwight Fleming, not guilty of the crime of rape in the second degree, with which each of them have been charged, based on the unequivocal testimony of [D.S.] as to what occurred to her back in her bedroom that night, you would have to find either that

[D.S.] has lied about what occurred in that bedroom or that she was confused; essentially that she fantasized what occurred back in that bedroom.

<u>Id.</u> at 213 (emphasis omitted). The prosecutor's argument in this case was just as flagrant and ill-intentioned. Following <u>Fleming</u>, this Court should hold the lack of an objection does not preclude review and reverse. <u>Id.</u> at 216.

2. Seizing on the court's erroneous ruling, the prosecutor improperly argued that the defendant was not credible because she had not called any witnesses in her defense.

The court erroneously ruled that the State could make a "missing witness" argument during closing argument. Capitalizing on this ruling, the prosecutor improperly argued that the jury should find Rich guilty because she had not called any witnesses in her defense.

"A criminal defendant has no burden to present evidence, and it is error for the State to suggest otherwise." State v. Montgomery, 163
Wn.2d 577, 597, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). However, under the "missing witness" doctrine, the State is allowed to "point out the absence of a 'natural witness' when it appears reasonable that the witness is under the defendant's control or peculiarly available to the defendant and the defendant would not have failed to produce the witness unless the testimony were unfavorable." Id. at 598 (citing State v. Blair, 117 Wn.2d 479, 485–86, 816 P.2d 718 (1991)). The hope is that the jury will infer

"that the absent witness's testimony would have been unfavorable to the defendant." Id.

Rich testified that before entering the parked car, she had just come out of her sister's apartment, where she had spent the night. RP 184. Rich stated that her brothers were nearby when the police arrived and that they had a video camera. RP 191. The State requested a missing witness instruction. RP 210-11. Rich opposed the instruction. RP 211. The court denied the instruction, reasoning that the witnesses were not under the control of or particularly available to Rich:

So, the State is requesting the Jury Instruction, WPIC 5.20, which would allow the jury to infer that since certain witnesses are not called by the defense, the jury can infer that the witnesses would testify adversely to the defense interests.

One of the requirements is that the witness must be in the control of or peculiarly available to the defense. I don't think the State has met that requirement.

RP 211-12. Nevertheless, the court ruled that the State could make a missing witness argument during closing:

Secondly, however, not giving the instruction does not prevent the State from arguing in closing that if the sister or brother was there, how come they are not here. You can still make that argument.

RP 212. The court did not provide an explanation for this ruling.

During closing argument, the prosecutor contended that the jury should not believe Rich because her relatives had not testified and the defense had not produced a video that Rich's brother might have taken:

And, then, she told you a few minutes ago that all her brothers and sisters knew about it on May 27th. She said her brother took a video of the whole thing, coming with lights and sirens blazing for no reason. But, they didn't come in and tell you about that. Why not? Why aren't they here? Why aren't they testifying about the 1.88? It's not the way it happened.

RP 226.⁵ Shortly thereafter, the prosecutor asked, "Where is that video?" RP 226.

The missing witness "doctrine applies only if the missing witness is particularly under the control of the defendant rather than being equally available to both parties." Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 598-99 (citing Blair, 117 Wn.2d at 488, 490). The trial court's ruling that a missing witness instruction was improper but that a missing witness argument was proper is contradictory and erroneous.

Case law establishes that the "particularly available" (also referred to as "peculiarly" available) requirement must be met before the missing witness doctrine can be invoked during closing argument. Blair, the foundational case approving of the State's use of the missing witness doctrine and cited by other cases for the particularly available

⁵ The referral to "1.88" is apparently to the breath test results.

requirement, did not involve a jury instruction. <u>Blair</u>, 117 Wn.2d at 484. There, the State made a missing witness argument, which the defendant contended was prosecutorial misconduct. <u>Id.</u> Our Supreme Court rejected the defendant's argument. <u>Id.</u> at 488. The Court determined that "the prosecutor showed the peculiar availability of the witnesses to the defense within the context of the missing witness doctrine." <u>Id.</u> at 491. Thus, the particularly available requirement must be met before making a missing witness argument.

Although Rich did not object to the prosecutor's argument, in light of the court's earlier ruling, an objection was not necessary. "The purpose of requiring an objection in general is to apprise the trial court of the claimed error at a time when the court has an opportunity to correct the error." State v. Moen, 129 Wn.2d 535, 547, 919 P.2d 69 (1996). Rich had already contested the prosecutor's request for a missing witness instruction. RP 211. The court was aware that Rich opposed the use of the missing witness doctrine. Objection to the State's missing witness argument during closing would have been futile because the court had already ruled that a missing witness argument would be allowed. RP 212. No curative instruction would have been provided. Under these circumstances, the lack of an objection should not preclude review. See State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 746-48, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) (earlier

challenge to ER 404(b) evidence sufficient to preserve issue on whether State committed misconduct by making closing argument based on ER 404(b) evidence).

There is a substantial likelihood that the error was prejudicial.

As recounted before, the jury heard two different versions of events. Rich testified she had not been driving the car while Deputy Mulligan testified that Rich had been. The jury found reasonable doubt as to the possession of stolen vehicle charge. Thus the jury likely found part of Rich's account credible. Absent the improper missing witness (and missing evidence) argument, this Court cannot be confident that the jury would not have also found reasonable doubt on the charges of driving under the influence and reckless endangerment. See Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 600 (given the competing narratives, improper use of the missing witness doctrine was prejudicial). This Court should reverse.

3. Because the evidence did not show that the defendant drove in an erratic or dangerous manner, insufficient evidence supports the conviction for reckless endangerment.

While it was light outside, Deputy Paul Mulligan testified he saw
Rich drive four blocks and park at an apartment complex without incident.
She was not reported to have swerved. After Rich parked, Mulligan
activated his emergency lights because the car was reported stolen.
Because the evidence was insufficient to prove that Rich's driving created

a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another person, this Court should reverse the conviction for reckless endangerment.

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