NO. 70711-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ANDREA RICH,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE MARIANE SPEARMAN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> NAMI KIM Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

 RICH FAILS TO MEET HER BURDEN THAT THE STATE ENGAGED IN PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Rich contends that the prosecutor committed reversible misconduct by arguing that in order to acquit, the jury would have to find that all the other witnesses lied. App. Br. 1. Because the State made no such argument, but rather emphasized that the two stories were completely contradictory, her claim fails. Furthermore, because Rich made no objection, any misconduct claim is waived.

To establish prosecutorial misconduct, Rich must show "that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire record and the circumstances at trial." State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011) (quoting State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 191, 189 P.3d 126 (2008)).

Prejudice is established only when "there is a substantial likelihood [that] the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." <u>Id.</u> at 442-43. If a defendant fails to object to an argument at trial, she has waived the claim unless she can show that "the remark was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." <u>Thorgerson</u>, 172 Wn.2d at 443 (quoting <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)).

The absence of a motion for mistrial at the time of the argument strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial ... in the context of the trial. Moreover, counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for a new trial or on appeal.

<u>State v. Swan</u>, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (internal quotations omitted).

Rich contends that the prosecutor's remarks amounted to flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct and thus the lack of objection should not preclude review. App. Br. 9, 11. She relies primarily on <u>State v. Fleming</u> for this argument. 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996). In <u>Fleming</u>, the prosecutor made a series of statements, one of which explicitly instructed the jury that "[f]or you

to find the defendants . . . not guilty of the crime of rape in the second degree . . . you would have to find either that [the victim] has lied about what occurred in that bedroom or that she was confused." Id. at 213 (emphasis in original). The court held that such an argument creating such a prerequisite for acquittal had long been declared improper, and "we therefore deem it to be a flagrant and ill-intentioned violation of the rules." Id.

The conduct complained of here is plainly distinguishable from the statements in <u>Fleming</u>, where the prosecutor erroneously stated that the jury could not *acquit* unless they found that the State's witness had lied. Here, the prosecutor told the jury that in order to *believe the defendant's version* in the face of two completely conflicting accounts, it would have to believe that the other witnesses had lied. There is a clear distinction between that particular statement and those comments targeted as flagrant and ill-intentioned by the court in <u>Fleming</u>, which equate *acquittal* with a necessary finding that police officers had committed perjury.

For further support, Rich cites to <u>State v. Barrow</u>, where the court disapproved of comments by the prosecutor that "in order for you to find the defendant not guilty on either of these charges, you have to believe his testimony and you have to completely

disbelieve the officers' testimony. You have to believe that the officers are lying." 60 Wn. App. 869, 874-75, 809 P.2d 209 (1991) (emphasis added). However, her reliance is misplaced as these comments again placed an impermissible condition on the actual acquittal of the defendant, an issue not present here.

Moreover, our Supreme Court has said that in analyzing the impropriety and prejudicial impact of a prosecutor's remarks "we do not look at the comments in isolation, but in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence, and the instructions given to the jury." State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 764 n.14, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Here, the evidence presented to the jury involved two wholly incompatible versions of a single event. Rich claimed she had never driven the car and was simply getting into it from her wheelchair when the police arrived with sirens on, that she had not had any conversation with her nephew in the front seat besides some reassuring words, that she was not affected by alcohol, and that the car was not stolen but in fact given to her by her boyfriend Mohamed. 2RP 184-90, 194, 204-05.

In sharp contrast, the owner of the car (whose name was not Mohamed but Metafaria) testified he had never met Rich before and had no idea who she was; Deputy Mulligan testified that he in fact saw Rich driving the car for four blocks with the young boy in the passenger seat whom she later loudly instructed to lie to the police; and Mulligan and two other law enforcement officers all agreed as to the obvious physical signs of Rich's impairment, confirmed by a BAC of twice the legal limit. 2RP 75-81, 95-96, 110-18, 144-48.

The prosecutor's remarks that Rich's story was "preposterous" in the face of numerous witnesses flatly denying her claims, and that "you have to believe that all the other witnesses came in here and lied" were thus responding to the wholly incongruous evidence at trial. This was not a situation, as in State v. Castaneda-Perez, where the court was concerned about the unfairness of such a remark because "the testimony of two witnesses can be *in some conflict*, even though both are

⁵ In <u>State v. Day</u>, the court held that use of the word "preposterous" was a permissible inference from the evidence at trial and thus not misconduct. 51 Wn. App. 544, 552, 754 P.2d 1021 (1988).

endeavoring in good faith to tell the truth." 61 Wn. App. 354, 363, 810 P.2d 74 (1991). The two stories here were in total and irreconcilable conflict. Given a prosecutor's wide latitude in closing argument to draw and express reasonable inferences from the evidence, the argument does not amount to flagrant misconduct.

See State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 727, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997).

The context of the argument confirms that the prosecutor's statements were not about the jury's duty to return a verdict of guilt absent a finding of perjury on behalf of the State's witnesses, but rather were part of a larger argument regarding Rich's credibility. Immediately prior to the statement to which Rich objects, the prosecutor discussed Rich's personal bias in the outcome, the incongruity of the evidence with her testimony, and the effects of her intoxication on her memory: "She gave a pretty good reason to hide the fact that she was driving drunk with a little boy. Well, the story doesn't meet up with the evidence. Where is that video? Her memory, she said, wasn't even affected by the .183/.188. Does that sound right to you?" 2RP 226.

This accurately reflects the jury instruction addressing the determination of witness's credibility. See CP 23 (instructing the jury that they may consider, among other things, "the ability of the witness to observe accurately . . . any personal interest that the witness might have in the outcome . . . [and] the reasonableness of the witness's statements in the context of all the other evidence").

The prosecutor then entreats the jury to examine the reasonableness of the evidence when making a credibility determination; it is in this context that she makes the statement that Rich claims as error:

Use your common sense and every day knowledge, to decide the facts of what happened here . . . You get to decide the facts based upon the credible sworn testimony that you heard, the evidence presented at trial, and the instructions that Judge Spearman read to you. I think when you examine the defendant's testimony, you will not find it credible. She gave a preposterous story. You heard the defendant. You have to believe that all the other witnesses came in here and lied.

2RP 226-27.

The majority of these comments correctly describe the jury's obligation to evaluate the internal and comparative consistency of all witnesses, including Rich. <u>See CP 23-24</u> (instructing the jury on

its duty to evaluate witness credibility and decide the case based on the evidence admitted and the law provided by the trial court).

Even if this Court finds improper the prosecutor's single remark that a belief in the defendant's story required a belief that the state's witnesses had lied, reversal is still inappropriate.

As explained above, the brief reference was not flagrant and ill-intentioned under Fleming, and thus Rich waived any claim of error by failing to object. Although Rich appears to cite to State v..

Wright to support her contention that the comment made here, distinct as it is from the one in Fleming, still qualifies as flagrant and ill-intentioned, that court made no such determination. App. Br.

8-10; Wright, 76 Wn. App. 811, 826, 888 P.2d 1213 (1995).

In <u>Wright</u>, the prosecutor argued that in order to believe the defendant's testimony, the jury would have to believe that the officers "got it wrong," a statement that the court ultimately found was proper argument. 76 Wn. App. at 826. Although the court further stated in dicta that it is misconduct to say that one must believe the State's witnesses are lying in order to believe a defendant's contrary story, those particular types of statements

were not before the court at the time nor did the court ever make a finding that such statements were flagrant and ill-intentioned.⁶ Id.

In fact, this Court more recently held instead in <u>State v.</u>

<u>Wheless</u> that a prosecutor's closing comment "that in order to find [the defendant] innocent, the police of Seattle, W.A. [sic], must be lying,' . . . [although] likely improper . . . was not 'so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury.'"⁷ 103 Wn. App. 749, 758, 14 P.3d 184 (2000). Rich's failure to object therefore waived this issue on appeal.

Finally, even if this court finds that the statement was flagrant and ill-intentioned, Rich has not demonstrated a substantial likelihood that the argument affected the verdict; thus, error under

⁶ It is worth noting that the comment that actually *was* before the court in <u>Wright</u> is wholly incompatible with the facts of this case. If the prosecutor here was restricted to the type of comment actually addressed in <u>Wright</u>, she would be limited to saying that to believe Rich, the jury would have to believe that three police officers had been mistaken about her state of intoxication, that Mulligan had been mistaken about following a car for four blocks, and the owner of the stolen car was mistaken about not being in a romantic relationship with Rich. In light of the evidence, such an argument could not be made with a straight face.

⁷ State v. Anderson, another case cited by Rich, also held that a prosecutor's argument that the jury had to come up with a reason "in order to find the defendant not guilty" was not "so flagrant or ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the prejudice" even though it was misconduct and arguably placed a condition on acquittal. The court assumed the jury followed the jury instruction explaining the burden of proof. 153 Wn. App. 417, 426, 431-32, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009).

that standard would be harmless. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 442-43. With the exception of Fleming, 8 not even the cases cited by Rich involving statements that conditioned acquittal on a finding of perjury on behalf of the State's witnesses required reversal. In Barrow, for example, this Court declined to reverse because it reasoned that the jury had the opportunity to hear the testimony for themselves and "it does not appear to us that the prosecutor's improper argument would have the capacity to so inflame the jury that there is a substantial likelihood that the defendant was denied a fair trial." 60 Wn. App. at 878.

In <u>Castaneda-Perez</u>, where the State "persistently" tried to push defense witnesses to say that the officers were lying, the court gave several reasons why that behavior posed no substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict: the witnesses never answered the prosecutor affirmatively; the police officers' testimony was

⁸ It is critical to note that even <u>Fleming</u> did not reverse based on the "acquittal/ lying witness" argument alone. Indeed, the court found that although such a comment was flagrant and ill-intentioned, it constituted a "misstatement of the law," not a constitutional error. 83 Wn. App. at 215. It was the prosecutor's

additional statements, including a bald challenge to the defendants' refusal to testify, that improperly shifted the burden of proof and infringed on their constitutional right to remain silent. <u>Id.</u> at 214-15. This raised the standard to a constitutional harmless error standard that, combined with the lack of evidence of forcible compulsion, required reversal. <u>Id.</u> at 215-16. "We conclude that the misconduct, *taken together* and *by cumulative effect*, rose to the level of manifest constitutional error, which we cannot find harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the nature of the evidence at trial." <u>Id.</u> at 216 (emphasis added).

"believable and . . . corroborated"; the defendants' testimony that they had never met each other was "not persuasive" in light of the officers' "persuasive, corroborated" testimony; and the jury had been unable to reach a verdict in the co-defendant's case, indicating they were not affected by the improper arguments. 9
61 Wn. App. at 360, 363-65.

The remarks to which Rich objects comprised of only a few words in an otherwise unobjectionable argument. The remainder of the discussion accurately described the law, the evidence, and the role of the jury. Additionally, the jury was properly instructed on the burden of proof, the determination of credibility, and the fact that the lawyers' remarks were not evidence. CP 22-25. Defense counsel's own argument began and ended with a reiteration of the State's burden of proof. 2RP 228, 231.

Moreover, the evidence of Rich's guilt presented by the

State's three police officers, the toxicologist, and the owner of the

Acura MDX was substantial. All the witnesses corroborated one

⁹ It should be noted that it was the prosecutor's numerous and relentless denunciations during cross-examination, in which he accused the defendant of impugning the character of the police, that the <u>Castaneda-Perez</u> court found objectionable; the court included only "part" of the offending testimony in its opinion, which nevertheless included at least a dozen such comments.
61 Wn. App. at 357-59. Such a pattern is not present here. The prosecutor here never made one such comment during Rich's cross-examination, and only a single comment in closing argument. 2RP 192-208. The cases are thus distinguishable on their facts.

another regarding Rich's illegal ownership of the car, her state of intoxication, her loud attempts to cover up her various crimes, and the act of her driving. Rich's claims of denial were not persuasive in the face of all of the testimony above. The fact that the jury did not convict her on the sole felony in the case, Possession of Stolen Vehicle, indicates that they were not affected by any allegedly improper arguments. The same evidence was before it on all charges and the same credibility calls had to be made. Given Rich's acquittal on the felony and the strength of the evidence on the remaining counts, it is unlikely that the jury was influenced to any significant degree by the prosecutor's isolated remark.

Had Rich objected, the court could easily have cured any possible prejudice by repeating or elaborating on the instructions already given. Because she did not, she waived this claim of error.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE STATE TO MAKE A MISSING WITNESS ARGUMENT.

Rich next contends that the trial court erred in allowing the State to make a missing witness argument at closing because it declined to give the related jury instruction. Because this did not preclude the court from allowing the argument, the doctrine

properly applied to this case. In addition, Rich failed to preserve any error, this claim fails.

Rich Failed To Preserve Any Error Because
 She Did Not Object To The Ruling Or To The
 State's Argument.

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